FILED, 2/27/2013, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

	SHIMEEK	DAQUIEL	GRIDINE
--	---------	---------	---------

Petitioner,

v. Case Number: SC12-1223

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GAIL E. ANDERSON
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 0841544
Leon County Courthouse
301 S. Monroe Street, Suite 401
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(850) 606-8514
Gail.Anderson@flpd2.com

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the direct appeal from Appellant's guilty pleas and sentences for attempted first degree murder and attempted armed robbery. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record on appeal:

- "R. [page number]" one volume labeled "Record on Appeal";

 "SuppR[volume number]. [page number]" five volumes of

 supplemental record;
- "PSI [page number]" Pre-Sentence Investigation dated April 14, 2010;
- "DJJ [page number]" Department of Juvenile Justice Adult Sentencing Summary Form dated April 22, 2010.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 21, 2009, Appellant, Shimeek Daquiel Gridine, age 14, and a 12-year-old accomplice confronted Dana Battles behind a gas station in Jacksonville, Florida, and demanded, "Give it up" (PSI 2). As Battles began turning away, Mr. Gridine shot him once with a shotgun (PSI 2; DJJ 2). Battles suffered "buckshot" wounds to the left side of his face, his left shoulder and the back of his head and neck and was taken to the hospital with non-life-threatening injuries (PSI 2-3; DJJ 2). After the gunshot, Mr. Gridine and his accomplice fled the scene (PSI 2).

The gas station's surveillance camera captured video of the attempted robbery and of the fleeing suspects (PSI 2). The video

was shown on television news, and Mr. Gridine's family brought him to the police station on April 24, 2009 (DJJ 1). Mr. Gridine was interviewed by the police and admitted to committing the shooting (DJJ 1).

On May 15, 2009, the State direct filed an information charging Mr. Gridine as an adult with attempted first degree murder (Count 1), attempted armed robbery (Count 2) and aggravated battery (Count 3) (R. 1). Count 1 was a first degree felony punishable by a term of years up to life in prison (SuppR1. 17; see sections 782.04(1)(a), 777.04(4)(b), 775.087(1)(a), and 775.082(3)(a)3., Fla. Stat. (2009)). Counts 1 and 2 were subject to a 25-year minimum mandatory sentence (SuppR1. 17-18; see Section 775.087, Fla. Stat. (2009)).

On March 9, 2010, Mr. Gridine pled guilty to all three counts with no agreement as to sentence (R. 48-49; SuppR1. 14-22). Mr. Gridine told the court he was pleading guilty because he was guilty (SuppR1. 16). The court set sentencing for April 30, 2009, and ordered the Department of Corrections to prepare a Pre-Sentence Investigation (PSI) and the Department of Juvenile Justice to prepare a Pre-Disposition Report (SuppR1. 21).

The PSI reported that Mr. Gridine was born in Brooklyn, New York, on November 7, 1994, to Rasheene Hollowell and Charlett Gridine, who were never married (PSI 1, 6). Mr. Gridine did not

The State later nol prossed Count 3 (R. 91).

remember meeting his father until 1998 and "knew very little of him" (PSI 6). Hollowell died in 2001 (PSI 6). In 1997, Charlett Gridine married Jerry Gidharry, but they divorced in 2000 (PSI 6). Charlett Gridine then moved to Jacksonville, where she supported her family through employment and public assistance (PSI 6). In 2009, Charlett Gridine became unemployed and lost her home (PSI 6, 7). She and Mr. Gridine moved in with his grandparents, Ranono Graham and John Harmon (PSI 6). Harmon was a father figure for the family, and Mr. Gridine had a close relationship with him (PSI 6).

Mr. Gridine had completed the seventh grade and began general education classes on May 20, 2009, while he was in pretrial detention (PSI 4). Mr. Gridine had a speech impairment which had been addressed during his school years, and the pretrial detention school planned to have him evaluated by a speech pathologist so he could receive appropriate therapy (PSI 4, 7). He was promoted to the eighth grade in October of 2009 (PSI 4). The pretrial detention school reported that "while his academic test scores are mostly below average, his grades are satisfactory. Special education services have been identified, and he began academic learning strategies on October 23, 2009 to assist in advancement. He reportedly displays positive behavior and attitude" (PSI 4).

Mr. Gridine's prior criminal record consisted of two misdemeanors (PSI 3). In 2008, he was charged with petit theft and completed a pretrial diversion program (PSI 3; DJJ 2). In February of 2009, Mr. Gridine was charged with disturbing the peace, which was dismissed, and with resisting an officer without violence, for which he was placed on probation (PSI 3; DJJ 2). In 2008, Mr. Gridine had received anger management counseling after a fight at his middle school (PSI 7).

The PSI recommended that if the court were to depart from the sentencing guidelines or the Criminal Punishment Code, the court should impose a Youthful Offender sentence of six years in prison followed by two years of community control and then three years of probation (PSI 8). Mr. Gridine told the PSI preparer that "he desires the opportunity to apologize to the victim for his actions" (PSI 3). The DJJ report recommended that the court impose juvenile sanctions of commitment to a maximum risk residential program (DJJ 2).

Mr. Gridine presented 12 witnesses at the sentencing hearing. Jeffrey Kelly became Mr. Gridine's step-father in 2000 (R. 93). Although he and Mr. Gridine's mother were now separated, Kelly was still a big part of Mr. Gridine's life (R. 93). Kelly had taught Mr. Gridine morals and other good things, got him into Boy Scouts and took him to church (R. 94). Kelly believed Mr. Gridine could be a positive influence (R. 95). In

talking to Mr. Gridine since the incident, Kelly could see that Mr. Gridine felt remorse, wanted to apologize to everyone and knew he had let people down (R. 95). Kelly believed Mr. Gridine still had a future because he made good grades in school and was a good kid (R. 95-96). Mr. Gridine was smart and knew right from wrong (R. 96).

Cody Gridine, Mr. Gridine's uncle, came to support Mr. Gridine "because I know that he is a good kid and we all make mistakes in life" (R. 98). Cody believed Mr. Gridine should be given a chance "because I know for a fact he got a heart, and he is very intelligent, and he is smart" (R. 98). Cody asked the court not to "write him off. . . . [P]lease don't write my nephew off, because I know he has a heart, Your Honor, and I know he can be a productive child" (R. 99).

Marilyn Gridine, Mr. Gridine's aunt, testified that Mr. Gridine "is a very intelligent guy, he is very sweet, he is really nice" (R. 102). Mr. Gridine "got in trouble this time, but he don't really do stuff like that" (R. 102). Mr. Gridine "doesn't do things bad, he don't do nothing wrong really" (R. 102). Marilyn asked the court to "have mercy on him, he is a little boy" (R. 102).

Robert Graham, Mr. Gridine's uncle, spent a lot of time with Mr. Gridine, and "he doesn't get in trouble when he is around me" (R. 104). Mr. Gridine "has some bad people that he hang out

with, but he -- whenever I am around, I keep him away from them and he stays with me" (R. 104). Graham himself had "been here before" and "changed my life around" (R. 104). Graham asked the court to "give my nephew a chance to make a change" (R. 104). Asked why Mr. Gridine would do something like this offense, Graham explained that Mr. Gridine had "lost a lot [of] people back to back," including "his pops" and "his closest cousin" (R. 105). Mr. Gridine "has been struggling ever since his father died" (R. 105). Mr. Gridine was "very remorseful" and apologetic, "so it is not like he is sitting here like happy about what he did" (R. 105-06). Mr. Gridine "don't do things like this, this is not SHIMEEK, this is not him for nothing, it is not him" (R. 106).

Tyresha May, Mr. Gridine's aunt, described Mr. Gridine as "a good kid" who "never really got into any trouble" (R. 108). May "was real shocked to hear that he got into this kind of trouble because he is not a bad child and he go to school and get good grades" (R. 108). May believed "sometimes the company you keep causes you to lean off from what . . . you have been taught" (R. 108). May asked the court to have mercy and give Mr. Gridine another chance because "I know that he can be a successful young man in life," "he will do better," and "he is a baby and he can change" (R. 108).

Two of Mr. Gridine's cousins and Mr. Gridine's brother testified that Mr. Gridine was a good cousin and brother (R. 114-15). Mr. Gridine taught his brother a lot of sports, never taught him to do anything wrong, and was a positive person in his brother's life (R. 114-15). Cousin Sharissa Graham did not "see why he got in trouble, but he is a role model to me, he is my hero" (R. 115).

Amanda Graham, Mr. Gridine's aunt, described him as "a good child" who caused no problems (R. 117). Mr. Gridine was not a "child that just runs wild and nobody watches him," but "has a very close family" and "is very loved" (R. 117). Amanda asked the court to give Mr. Gridine another chance (R. 117).

At the time of the offense, Mr. Gridine was living with Ranona Graham, his grandmother (R. 118-19). Mr. Gridine was Ranona's first grandchild, and although he was not perfect, "he tries to be" (R. 119). Ranona was "missing him in my life" and asked the court, "please don't take my child away from me" (R. 119). When the offense happened, the family had Mr. Gridine turn himself in "because it was bothering him just that much" and he "was on the verge of a nervous breakdown" (R. 120). Mr. Gridine "deserves to be punished, but not taken away" (R. 120). Ranona was the first person Mr. Gridine told about the offense, and he was honest about it (R. 120). Then the family took him to turn himself in (R. 120-21).

At the time of the offense, Mr. Gridine also lived with his grandfather, John Harmon (R. 123). Mr. Gridine was "a good kid," and when he was growing up, he "would ask me for help in school, he would ask me to help stuff with his bicycles" (R. 123). When Harmon was away working as a merchant seaman, Mr. Gridine helped other kids in the neighborhood with fixing their bicycles (R. 123). Other than sometimes leaving Harmon's tools out, Mr. Gridine did not "get in trouble as a matter of habit or anything like that" (R. 123). Before the offense, Mr. Gridine's mother lost her job and the house, and there were two deaths in the family (R. 123). When the family learned about Mr. Gridine's involvement in the offense, they talked to him, and "he wanted to turn himself in, he says, you know, I didn't mean to do it" (R. 123-24). Mr. Gridine "even says he has to be punished for what he did" (R. 124). Harmon believed that a sentence of 25 years to life "does nothing for society or for him if he grows up in jail" (R. 124-25). Mr. Gridine "knows he did something wrong, he knows he has to be punished for it" (R. 125). Harmon asked the court to sentence Mr. Gridine as a juvenile "where he has a second chance, where he will still be incarcerated but they have programs to help him," so that he could "come out and be productive" (R. 125).

To his mother, Charlotte Gridine, Mr. Gridine "is a good child" (R. 127). Before the offense, Charlotte lost her job and

her house, and there were two deaths in the family, including a cousin to whom Mr. Gridine was close (R. 127). Mr. Gridine took the cousin's death "real hard" (R. 127). Mr. Gridine's father also passed away (R. 127). Mr. Gridine was an obedient child and only got into normal childhood trouble (R. 128). Mr. Gridine was remorseful about the offense (R. 128). Charlotte talked to Mr. Gridine about the offense before he turned himself in (R. 128). He admitted committing the offense and was "[s]cared, nervous, . . . on the verge of breaking down" (R. 128). He knew it was a serious offense and told the police what happened (R. 129). Mr. Gridine knew he made a mistake and wanted to apologize to the victim (R. 129). Charlotte asked the court to impose a juvenile sentence (R. 129).

Robert Jackson was married to a cousin of Mr. Gridine and was a first sergeant in the United States Army and Florida

National Guard (R. 140-41). Mr. Gridine came to Jackson's home on the weekends "because there is no father in the home. His grandfather is constantly deployed to provide for the family" (R. 141). Mr. Gridine's offense "was a complete shock" to Jackson, who "never ha[d] an ounce of problem out of him" (R. 141).

Jackson had noticed that Mr. Gridine had "small issues, hanging with the wrong kids in the neighborhood. But that wasn't his normal demeanor" (R. 141). Normally, Mr. Gridine was "very respectful to adults and his peers alike" (R. 141). Jackson was

"a hundred percent sure that he could be rehabilitated without any issues" because of his family support system (R. 142). That support system was not as available before the offense (R. 142). Mr. Gridine's grandfather was "his biggest influence," but was "gone on a ship on a regular basis" (R. 142). Jackson had been deployed, so he had also been gone and was not available (R. 142-43).

The State called no witnesses, but introduced photographs of Battles' injuries (R. 132; SuppR5. State Exs. 1-5). The State recommended that the court impose a 40-year prison sentence with a 25-year minimum mandatory term (R. 137). The defense requested a Youthful Offender sentence such as was recommended in the PSI and the DJJ report (R. 145-50).

In imposing sentence, the court remarked that "[t]he sole question concerning sentence in this case . . . is the defendant's age" (R1. 155). Despite Mr. Gridine's age, the court found that he was "intelligent, . . . aware of right and wrong, . . . able to determine things for [himself] and . . . [his] thought process is in no way impaired, no way infirmed [sic]" (R1. 155). The court declined to impose a youthful offender sentence "given the nature of conduct that took place on that night and the nature of the conduct that has been admitted to by this defendant" (R1. 158). The court imposed concurrent prison sentences of 70 years on Count 1 and 25 years on Count 2 with a

25-year minimum mandatory sentence on both counts (R1. 53-55, 159-60). Mr. Gridine timely filed a notice of appeal (R1. 69).

Before filing this initial brief, Mr. Gridine filed a motion under Rule 3.800(b)(2), Fla. R. Crim. P., in the circuit court (SuppR2. 1-8). The motion argued that Mr. Gridine's 70-year prison sentence with a 25-year minimum mandatory on Count 1 was a de facto life sentence imposed on a juvenile for a nonhomicide crime and thus violated the Eighth Amendment under the rationale of Graham v. Florida, 130 S. Ct. 2011 (2010).

The motion alleged that the 70-year sentence with a 25-year minimum mandatory was a life without parole sentence because it extended beyond Mr. Gridine's expected life span (SuppR2. 3).

The motion proffered that according to the National Center for Health Statistics, in 2006, the latest year for which statistics were available at the time, a 15-year-old black male was expected to live for another 51.3 years. National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control, National Vital Statistics Reports (June 28, 2010) table A, vol. 58, no. 21. (SuppR2. 3). The motion alleged that even if Mr. Gridine served only eighty-five percent² of the 45 years of his sentence remaining after he serves the minimum mandatory 25-year sentence, his total prison sentence would be 63.25 years, which also

²See § 944.275(4)(b)3., Fla. Stat. (2010) (maximum gain time award may not reduce sentence below 85% of sentence imposed).

extends beyond his expected life span (SuppR2. 3).

The circuit court heard argument and issued an order denying the motion (SuppR4. 13-24; SuppR2. 14-18). The court later issued an amended order (SuppR3. 2-6).

In the amended order, the circuit court summarized the facts of the offenses to which Mr. Gridine pled guilty and found that Mr. Gridine was 14 years old at the time of the crimes (SuppR3. 3). The court held that the "condition precedent" for applying Graham had "not been met - that is, this Court did not impose a life without parole sentence" (SuppR3. 4) (footnote omitted). Addressing Mr. Gridine's argument that his term of years sentence was a de facto life sentence, the court stated: "In his motion, the Defendant cites to the National Center for Health Statistics 2006 Vital Statistics Reports, which were not introduced into evidence at the sentencing hearing, and are not in evidence before the Court" (SuppR3. 5) (footnote omitted).

Although accepting that attempted homicide is a nonhomicide offense under Florida law, the court opined that in <u>Graham</u>, the United States Supreme Court "recognizes that the most serious forms of punishment are reserved for those who kill, intend to kill or foresee that life will be taken" (SuppR3. 5) (citing Graham, 130 S. Ct. at 2027). The court concluded:

[T]he Defendant is not - by law - afforded such categorical protection in light of the nature [of] his crimes and the clear intent of his actions. Further, by the <u>Graham</u> Court's own reasoning, the Defendant does

not enjoy the diminished culpability of Graham because he had a clear and premeditated intent to kill. Indeed, his intent to kill is memorialized forever in full color.

Just because this juvenile Defendant failed in his criminal and deadly endeavor does not preclude this Court from sentencing the Defendant commensurate with the Defendant's intent - the same intent possessed by a juvenile murderer. Thus, the Court finds that the Defendant's sentence of 70 years imprisonment, with a 25-year minimum mandatory sentence, as to Count One, Attempted Murder in the First Degree, is both legal and appropriate.

(SuppR3. 5-6).

Mr. Gridine presented his Graham argument to the First District Court of Appeal. That court agreed with the circuit court that Graham was inapplicable to Mr. Gridine because he did not receive a sentence of life without parole. Gridine v. State, 89 So. 3d 909, 910 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011). The court declined to apply Graham to Mr. Gridine's 70-year sentence because "the Supreme Court specifically limited its holding in Graham to only 'those juvenile offenders sentenced to life without parole solely for a nonhomicide offense.'" 89 So. 3d at 911 (quoting Graham, 130 S. Ct. at 2023). The court affirmed Mr. Gridine's sentence, concluding, "we agree that at some point, a term-of-years sentence may become the functional equivalent of a life sentence. . . . Nevertheless, we do not believe that situation has occurred in the instant case." Gridine, 89 So. 3d at 911. Judge Wolf dissented, stating, "it is clear to me that appellant will spend most of his life in prison. This result would appear to

violate the spirit, if not the letter, of the <u>Graham</u> decision."

<u>Gridine</u>, 89 So. 3d at 911 (Wolf, J., Dissenting).

On Mr. Gridine's motion for rehearing, the court certified the following question of great public importance: "Does the United States Supreme Court decision in Graham v. Florida, 130 S. Ct. 2011 (2010), prohibit sentencing a fourteen-year-old to a prison sentence of seventy years for the crime of attempted first-degree murder?" Gridine v. State, 93 So. 3d 360 (Fla. 1st DCA 2012). This Court accepted jurisdiction. Gridine v. State, Case No. SC12-1223 (Fla. Oct. 11, 2012).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In <u>Graham v. Florida</u>, the United States Supreme Court held that a life sentence imposed upon a juvenile offender for a nonhomicide crime violates the Eighth Amendment. The question here is whether a 70-year prison sentence imposed upon a 14-year-old offender for a nonhomicide crime likewise violates the Eighth Amendment. <u>Graham</u>'s focus on the psychological characteristics of juveniles and on their potential for rehabilitation provides the answer: a lengthy term-of-years sentence imposed upon a juvenile offender for a nonhomicide crime violates the Eighth Amendment in the same way as a life sentence because it does not provide "a meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation."

The Court should direct that Mr. Gridine receive a sentence which provides him "a meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation." In light of Mr. Gridine's current sentence structure, that opportunity should occur when he has served his two concurrent 25-year minimum mandatory sentences. The Court could direct this outcome based upon its rule-making authority or by holding the statute abolishing parole unconstitutional as applied to juvenile offenders.

ARGUMENT

THE IMPOSITION OF A 70-YEAR PRISON SENTENCE WITH A 25-YEAR MINIMUM MANDATORY TERM ON A 14-YEAR-OLD VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT UNDER THE REASONING OF GRAHAM V. FLORIDA, 130 S.CT. 2011 (2010), AND REQUIRES RESENTENCING.

Standard of Review: This Court applies a de novo standard of review to a pure question of constitutional law. See State v.

Glatzmeyer, 789 So. 2d 297, 301 n.7 (Fla. 2001).

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