RECEIVED, 5/9/2013 12:08:32, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SHIMEEK DAQUIEL GRIDINE,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC12-1223

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 773026

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 618550
444 Seabreeze Blvd.
Fifth Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax (386) 238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

offenders, because this claim was never presented to the lower courts, no basis for doing so has been demonstrated in the instant proceeding, and such remedy is far to expansive for the issue at hand.

Finally, in the absence of any legislative direction to date, should this Court determine that a judicial remedy is required under *Graham*, it must be carefully considered and evaluated so as not to create more issues than it resolves. In this respect, Respondent submits that even if a remedy is required, relief need not be immediate, because under no interpretation of *Graham* is Gridine entitled to an opportunity for release any time in the near future.

ARGUMENT

GRIDINE WAS PROPERLY SENTENCED TO A SEVENTY YEAR SENTENCE FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE MURDER AND HIS SENTENCE DOES NOT VIOLATE THE CATEGORICAL BAN ON LIFE WITHOUT THE POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE FOR JUVENILE OFFENDERS WHO COMMITTED NONHOMICIDE CRIMES.

After entering a guilty plea, Gridine was sentenced to seventy years for attempted murder and 25 years for attempted armed robbery. He also received concurrent 25 year minimum mandatory terms for the use of a firearm during the commission of both offenses. While his direct appeal was pending, Gridine filed a motion to correct sentence based on Graham v. Florida, 130 S.Ct. 2011 (2010). The trial court denied the motion, finding that Graham applied only to sentences of life without the possibility of parole for nonhomicide offenses. The trial court also observed that it may have found that attempted first degree murder is a homicide offense, and therefore outside the scope of the Graham decision, but it was bound by a Florida appellate decision to the contrary.

On direct appeal, the district court disagreed with Gridine's assertion that his seventy year sentence was the "functional equivalent" of a life sentence without the possibility of parole, and agreed with the trial court's finding that by the express terms of Graham, the term of years sentence imposed did not run afoul of Graham. Gridine v. State, 89 So.3d 909, 910 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011).

The court specifically stated that "the Supreme Court specifically limited its holding in Graham to only 'those juvenile offenders sentenced to life without parole solely for a nonhomicide offense, " quoting Graham at 2023. The court added that at some point, a term-of-years sentence may become the functional equivalent of a life sentence, but did not believe that situation had occurred in the instant case. Gridine, 89 So.3d at 911. rehearing, the court certified the following question: "Does the United States Supreme Court Decision in Graham v. Florida, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010), prohibit sentencing a fourteenyear-old to a prison sentence of seventy years for the crime of attempted first degree murder?". Gridine v. State, 93 So.3d 360 (Fla. 1st DCA 2012). As will be demonstrated, the answer to this question is no, because Graham applies only to sentences of life without parole for nonhomicide crimes, and Gridine received a term of years sentence. Further, for purposes of a Graham analysis, attempted first degree murder should be considered a homicide offense, because the fact that the victim survived has no effect on the offender's culpability or characteristics, which is what provides the framework for the Graham analysis.

Generally, "mixed questions of law and fact that ultimately determine constitutional rights should be reviewed by appellate courts using a two-step approach, deferring to the trial court on questions of historical fact, but conducting a de novo review of

the constitutional issue." Hilton v. State, 961 So.2d 284, 293 (Fla. 2007). See also Connor v. State, 803 So.2d 598, 605 (Fla. 2001). However, when considering Eighth Amendment challenges, appellate courts must yield "substantial deference to the broad authority that legislatures necessarily possess in determining the types and limits of punishments for crimes, as well as to the discretion that trial courts possess in sentencing convicted criminals." Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 290 (1983).

Gridine claims that his seventy year sentence for attempted first degree murder violates the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. He asserts that whether his sentence is labeled a "term of years" sentence or "life without parole" sentence, he will probably die in prison, in violation of Graham's command that states must provide a juvenile nonhomicide offender a meaningful opportunity to obtain release. As will be demonstrated, the Graham Court did not categorically prohibit states from sentencing juvenile non-homicide offenders to die in prison with no opportunity for release, but held only that sentences of life without the possibility of parole imposed on juveniles for nonhomicide offenses are unconstitutional. Graham, 130 S.Ct. at 2030. The First District Court of Appeal in this case, like the Second, Fourth and Fifth District Courts of Appeal, correctly stated, as the trial court had found, that the Graham Court limited

its holding only to those juvenile offenders sentenced to life without parole solely for a nonhomicide offense.

In this respect, Respondent would first note that *Graham* created a categorical ban on a distinct sentencing scheme, and Florida courts are precluded from expanding *Graham* beyond its express and limited holding, pursuant to Article I Section 17 of the Florida Constitution, which states in relevant part:

The prohibition against cruel or unusual punishment, and the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment, shall be construed in conformity with decisions of the States supreme Court which interpret prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment provided the Eighth Amendment to the United Constitution.

Cf. Valle v. State, 70 So.3d 530 (Fla. 2011) (recognizing that under the Conformity Clause, Florida's courts are bound by precedent of the United States Supreme Court on issues regarding cruel and unusual punishment); cf. Holland v. State, 696 So.2d 757 (Fla. 1997) (explaining that the conformity clause prohibits a state court from providing greater protection than what is provided in United States Supreme Court precedent).

The four Florida district courts of appeal that have addressed the application of *Graham* to term-of-years sentences for nonhomicide offenses have all recognized its limited holding and application. The Second District Court of Appeal was the first appellate court in Florida to observe that the sole issue in *Graham* was whether a sentence of life without the possibility of parole

imposed on a juvenile offender for a nonhomicide crime constituted cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment. *Manual v. State*, 48 So. 3d 94 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010). That court further noted:

Graham held only that sentences of life without the possibility of parole imposed on juveniles for nonhomicide offenses are unconstitutional-not that lengthy prison sentences imposed on juveniles for a term of years less than life are unconstitutional. Graham, 130 S.Ct. at 2030 (noting that the Eighth Amendment does not "foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of nonhomicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life"). Therefore, Mr. Manuel is not entitled to be resentenced on the attempted murder conviction that currently carries a sentence of a term of forty years.

Id. at 98 n.3. See also Walle v. State, 99 So.3d 967, 970-71 (Fla. 2d DCA 2012) (finding that Graham is limited to a single life without parole for a sentence for a nonhomicide offense, and it could not expand that ruling beyond the limitations set forth in Graham; the court then identified four analytical factors to determine if Graham is applicable - (1) the offender was a juvenile, (2) the sentence imposed applied to a singular nonhomicide offense, (3) the offender was "sentenced to life," and (4) the sentence does not provide for any possibility of release during the offender's lifetime); Young v. State, 38 Fla. L. Weekly D402 (Fla. 2d DCA February 20, 2013) (Graham addressed the narrow issue of whether a sentence of life without the possibility of parole imposed on a nonhomicide offender violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal likewise found that Graham does not apply to term-of-year sentences, and is to be applied "only as written." Henry v. State, 82 So.3d 1084, 1089 (Fla. 5th DCA 2012). See also Mediate v. State, 108 So.3d 703, 706-07 (Fla. 5th DCA 2013) (rejecting an invitation to revisit Henry); Johnson v. State, 108 So.3d 1153 (Fla. 5th DCA 2013) (same). The Fourth District Court of Appeal recently agreed with the Fifth and Second Districts, stating, "we are compelled to apply Graham as it is expressly worded, which applies only to actual life sentences without parole." Guzman v. State, 38 Fla. L. Weekly D617 (Fla. 4th DCA March 13, 2013).

As stated, the First District Court of Appeal in this case expressly acknowledged that the Supreme Court specifically limited its holding in Graham to only juvenile offenders sentenced to life without parole for a nonhomicide offense, Gridine, 89 So.3d at 911. See also Thomas v. State, 78 So.3d 644, 646 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011). The court also stated that there may be some point that a term of years sentence could become the functional equivalent of a life sentence, and later applied Graham to a term-of-years sentence. Floyd v. State, 87 So.3d 45, 47 (Fla. 1st DCA 2012) (finding that because the eighty year sentence was longer than the appellant's life expectancy, it was the "functional equivalent" of a life sentence without parole). Significantly, the court has since stated that if it was writing on a clean slate, i.e., without the

"rule of law" announced in *Gridine*, *Thomas*, and *Smith v. State*, 93 So.3d 371 (Fla. 1st DCA 2012), it would now affirm a lengthy term of years sentence based on the reasoning in *Henry*, *supra*. *Adams v*. *State*, 37 Fla. L. Weekly D1865 (Fla. 1st DCA August 8, 2012).

Respondent thus submits that the application of *Graham* to a term of years sentence creates an additional protection for juvenile offenders beyond that provided in the United States Constitution, and is prohibited under the Conformity Clause of the Florida Constitution. The First District's later need to create a "de facto life sentence," in order to even apply *Graham*, best illustrates this departure from and expansion of *Graham*. For this reason alone, the decision of the district court can be affirmed.

Further, categorical rules simply cannot be applied to sentences that cannot be categorized. As the *Graham* Court

⁵ The Adams Court stated that the rule of law from this case and Thomas was twofold: first, Graham does apply to lengthy term of years sentences that amount to de facto life sentences, and second, a de facto life sentence is one that exceeds a defendant's life Respondent questions the legal validity of this expectancy. That court has also stated that "[w]hen a court pronouncement. makes a pronouncement of law that is ultimately immaterial to the outcome of the case, it cannot be said to be part of the holding in the case." Lewis v. State, 34 So.3d 183, 186 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010). The Gridine court did not even make the pronouncements that Graham applied to term of year sentences or that a term of years sentence was one that exceeds a defendant's life expectancy, so it would appear that the only rule of law from this case is that Graham does not apply to lengthy term-of-years sentences.

⁶ See State v. Hankerson, 65 So.3d 502 (Fla. 2011) (A trial court's ruling should be upheld if there is any legal basis in the record which supports the judgment).

observed, cases addressing proportionality fall into two general classifications. Id. at 2021. The first classification involves challenges to the length of term of years sentences, where the Court considers all of the circumstances of the case to determine whether the sentence is unconstitutionally excessive. Id. A court begins its analysis for determining whether a sentence for a term of years is grossly disproportionate by comparing the gravity of the offense with the severity of sentence. Id. at 2022. second classification uses categorical rules to define Eighth Amendment standards. Iđ. The Court determined that Graham presented a categorical challenge, with the sentencing process itself being called into question. As the Court stated, "This case implicates a particular type of sentence as it applies to an entire class of offenders who have committed a range of crimes." Id. at 2021-22. The Court determined that a threshold comparison between the severity of the penalty and the gravity of the crime (the first approach) did not advance such analysis, so the appropriate analysis would be the one used in cases utilizing the categorical approach. Id. at 2023. The Court explained that the categorical restriction espoused therein was one involving, "only those juvenile offenders sentenced to life without parole solely for a nonhomicide offense." Id. After completing this analysis, the Court held:

that for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without

parole. This clear line is necessary to prevent the possibility that life without parole sentences will be imposed on juvenile nonhomicide offenders, who are not sufficiently culpable to merit that punishment.

Id. at 2030.

Gridine's seventy year sentence is not subject to categorical challenge without crossing this "clear line." stated, a categorical challenge involves a "particular type of sentence," and there is no "particular type of sentence" here other than a term of years. While the First District later stated that a de facto life sentence is one that "exceeds the defendant's life expectancy," this is not a categorical type of sentence, evidenced by the fact that each sentence would have to be evaluated on a case by case basis. Other courts have clearly struggled with what exactly would constitute a de facto life sentence. See e.g., Henry, 82 So.3d at 1089 ("At what number of years would the Eighth Amendment become implicated in the sentencing of a juvenile: twenty, thirty, forty, fifty, some lesser or greater number? Would gain time be taken into account? Could the number vary from offender to offender, based on race, gender, socioeconomic class or other criteria? Does the number of crimes matter?"). Significantly, a sentence based on an offender's "life expectancy" is no more concrete, and would most likely vary from offender to offender, based on race, gender, socioeconomic class, or perhaps genetic predisposition. Gridine's argument demonstrates this. He quotes a statistic from a "National Center

for Health Statistics" for the life expectancy of a 15 year-old black male, then a 20 year-old black male. Not all juvenile offenders are that age, that race, or that gender. Respondent thus submits that categorical rules cannot be applied to a sentence that cannot even be defined.

Respondent would further note that Gridine never presented a straight proportionality argument, i.e., whether his term of years sentence is grossly disproportionate when comparing the gravity of the offense with the severity of sentences. Instead, he appears to advocate for a new, hybrid categorical/disproportionality/life expectancy approach, which includes the crime, the severity of the sentence, and the offender's life expectancy. As stated, there is no such category, and it certainly was not recognized in Graham.

In this respect, Respondent would point out that the *Graham* Court found that while the imposition of a life without parole sentence for a nonhomicide crime is unconstitutional, "[a] State need not guarantee the offender eventual release, but if it imposes a sentence of life it must provide him or her with some realistic opportunity to obtain release before that term." *Id.* at 2034. Notably absent from the majority decision in *Graham* was any mention or indication that "the Court's opinion affects the imposition of

^{&#}x27;Respondent submits that Gridine failed to preserve any claim below regarding his life expectancy. As the trial court observed in its order, he did not submit any evidence in support of this claim, and respondent objects to its use on review since there has been no showing as to it acceptance or reliability.

a sentence to a term of years without the possibility of parole."

Id. at 2058 (Alito, J. dissenting). Indeed, that the Court's holding did not involve a defined term of years was the entire point of Justice Alito's separate dissenting opinion. See id. See also, Henry, 82 So.3d at 1087, wherein the district court observed that the dissenting opinions in Graham discussed its nonapplication to term-of-year sentences.

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